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RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Robert Ian Rogers
Robert Ian Rogers was born in 1956 in Melbourne. His family consisted of 2 brothers and 4 sisters, Robert was the only one in his family to do some kind of military service apart from his father who went to Japan for 2 years after the second world war. Before his father went to Japan he was a former artist turned school teacher and his mother was a full time mum with seven kids to look after. Robert went to a school in Melbourne called Central Tech which taught technical skills if you wanted to do a trade.

He went to Year 11 which was the highest the school went to but he did do Year 12 just before he went to college at night school for 4 nights a week. After Robert left school he did an apprenticeship working on the airports as a mechanic.  After that he went to college for 3 years then in 1981 he joined Everyman’s full time.  He has being working for them ever since apart from 3 years when he was minister of a Baptist Church looking after the young people. Robert has many hobbies including motor racing (mainly historical), Australian football and military aeroplanes.

Robert served in Cambodia as a welfare representative.  He jumped at the chance to go to put his skills to the test. He met new friends over there like the chaplain.   He was very good friends with him even when he came back.  Robert worked 6 days a week, Monday to Saturday morning. Saturday afternoon they all played sport until about 4pm then you could do what you pleased. On a Friday night they would go into town with the other officers and try all the different types of food because food was very cheap, and on Sundays it would be free time.  Robert and his mates would go to the chapel and then they would go to a church service. Robert said that sometimes he was scared because you could have been taken by Khmer rouge or been blown up by a landmine.  Robert wasn’t in combat but every time you heard a gun shot you would behave yourself and keep an ear and eye out.   His friend who shared the same room as him wasn’t so lucky.  He came under very heavy fire for about 3-4 days by the Khmer Rouge. 

Robert only had one regret and that was he missed his family but he was excited about going over and he said that if he had the chance that he would go over again.       

Complied by Toby Coutts 
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Ray Corrie
Ray was a young man when WW2 broke out.  He had been brought up in the Bundaberg area and worked for 10 years as a labourer in assorted jobs and locations.   Primarily, he worked in the cane fields of Bundaberg for several years before changing to dairying at Canandra. On leaving there, he travelled to Silkwood in the north of the state where he again went cane cutting.

Jobs were scarce and prospects were low prior to the outbreak of  WW2.  The world was just coming out of the Great Depression that followed the Great Share Market Crash of 1929-1931.  The Army was offering a regular income, security and training in other fields.  It seemed to be a good choice at the time.  He did not dwell particularly on his decision to join.  His father had served in WW1so it came as no surprise to the family when Ray announced he was joining up.  His stepfather  had no particular comments or emotion but his mother was very upset and concerned for his safe return.  His cousins also joined up but they did not serve together. Men volunteered to fight for many reasons.  Most believed that the ‘correct’ thing was to go and fight for Mother England, others joined because it meant a job.  The background of most of the volunteers was similar.  Parents and grandparents had migrated from England.  Their ties to England were very strong and they considered England as ‘home’ whereas Australia was still a “colony” of the British Empire in many people’s minds, so there was no hesitation when England was threatened.  Australia was still under England’s control in many governmental and financial areas.  King George was the monarch. 

The military forces from Australia had no warning of changes in the style of warfare they would encounter.  History told them a far different story.  No one  was prepared for the changes they encounted.  

He enrolled in the Army and was assigned to the Light Horse brigade.   Attached to Canungra for initial training followed with more training at the Grovely barracks, he was then transferred to the A.I.F..

When training was completed, the division was shipped out to the Middle East.  He was 25years old when he left Australia and 26 by the time he arrived in Lebanon, Tripoli.

They travelled by ship.  The Queen Elizabeth, the biggest ship of the day (80000ton), was unfinished when commissioned by the English Government to transport soldiers.  There were no proper sleeping quarters so they slung hammocks from the structural supports in the lower decks. It was very crowded with limited facilities.  After leaving Sydney the ship travelled through the Great Australian Bight and encounted a massive storm. Even though the ship had been equipped with the latest stabalizing technology of the time, as most had never been to sea before, they were seasick.  Ray was fine.  From Perth to India was the best part of the trip. The ship travelled to the Middle East via the Red Sea. Temperatures were so hot during the nights that sleep below deck was impossible.  Most slept on the decks.  Queen Elizabeth 1 was so big that many got lost trying to find their way around so they mostly stayed on deck in groups, playing cards. 

On disembarking in the Middle East, being in  the Light Horse Division,  he  was mostly gathering information and relaying to the front line forces.  He did not see much action although did travel around the northern part of Africa for some time. The horses were replaced with motor bikes.  During this engagement he was slightly wounded, receiving a light graze to the shoulder.

Ray, although not actually enjoying his time in the Middle East, definitely preferred that campaign to New Guinea.

The Division was redeployed in New Guinea.

They were not assigned transport from the Middle East campaign but were directed to find their way overland to India where they would be eventually picked up by ship.  The bike squadron set out across the desert.  They arrived in India and were able to see some of the country.  He liked India.   There  were long twilights, games of tennis and very “English” customs were observed.  He also saw another culture - a world of extremely poor people.   The caste system was evident.  When people needed to travel from their homes to market, they climbed on top of the trains which were already overloaded or walked. 

Eventually they were assigned to a ship.  They boarded the “SS Havidar” – a ship of only 2000 ton, very small and greatly different to their first sea trip.

His division was to make two tours of New Guinea mainly the Kokoda trail. Recollections of these tours were of hardship, despair and illness, of mates dying, of malaria and snipers, of the jungle heat, insects and oppression.  Their trip to the Ramu Valley in Malaysia was not much better.  He does not have any good memories of his involvement in the Pacific theatre. After a relatively quite experience in the Middle East and a pampered rest in India, New Guinea 

“brought them back to earth with a thud”

He contracted typhus and malaria and was very ill and hospitalised for 16 weeks.  Upon becoming strong enough to travel, he was transported on the hospital ship  “Tunundra” to Brisbane then by train to a recovery centre in Warwick.  Part of the recovery program included a return trip to his family in Bundaberg.  He was then reunited with his battalion at Petrie barracks.  He received the usual campaign medals commemorating each front.

The point system was operating.  This meant that when you had accumulated your required points, you were eligible for discharge.  He had no desire to stay.  

On leaving the army, he experienced a loss.  He missed his mates, the comradeship and the daily routine, but in particular ‘the regular pay packet.’  Ray did nothing for a while, preferring to catch up on lost time.  In all he had lost 4 years and 10 months from his personal life.   He returned to Bundaberg to look for work and readjust to civilian life. At the time he did not request assistance from the government to be rehabilitated.  Servicemen were to be given preference when applying for work.  Ray had no problem finding and keeping jobs.  He was employed by COR petroleum (now known as BP) as a tanker driver for many years.    Later he applied for his service pension.  His personal life improved and after marrying established a “good life”.   He has since bought several houses that he  renovated and resold  thus setting up the basis for a comfortable retirement which he now enjoys with his wife.

Compiled by Sandra Downing.
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James Brown
Part 1

This is the story as told to me by James Thomas Brown who served in the 7th squadron during World War 2.

Just 18, can you imagine your son, daughter or a friend being brave enough to sign up in the air force at such a young age to protect his or her country.

On July 1st 1943, just two weeks after his 18th birthday that’s exactly what James Thomas Brown did.  James was one of six brothers; four had joined the army and one the Navy.  Mr Brown a telegram messenger and postman decided it was his duty to sign up and serve his country.

Living in Boonah it was this brave boy’s first real time away from home and knew it would be a different experience, one that could cost him his life!  Mr Brown explained that the reason he joined the Air Force had a lot to do with the fact that as a child he had been with the ATC (Australian Training core).  He quite enjoyed this and learned a little about planes.  From his home he first went to Sandgate to do 6 separate courses.  Once James had completed these courses he was recognised as a flight mechanic.

Mr Brown then travelled to Wagga Wagga.  Although he enjoyed his time there he found it to be much too cold for his liking.  He was then transferred to Bundaberg where he was to receive more training.  During a short stop in Sandgate, Mr Brown decided to pay his parents a visit to say goodbye.  He ran all the way  from the station to their house only to find that they had gone out.  He ran all the way back and left without saying goodbye to them.  He rang them later and the whole family had a laugh over his goodbye attempt.  This was just a small disappointment at the start of what was to be an interesting journey.

He was placed in the 32nd squadron in 1944 when he arrived in Bundaberg.  Here he got the chance to work with the Beaufort Bombers, a task which he still remembers quite distinctly.  Only 1200 Beauforts were ever made and their production was stopped 1944.  He soon flew to Cairns and this is where he received his 3PD staging for overseas.  From here he was transferred to New Guinea.  His colleague’s and himself flew to New Guinea in a Seaplane sitting on packing cases.  Mr Brown says that although it was terribly cramped and uncomfortable they shared some good stories.  By 1945 he was based at the Tadji airstrip.

Most people tend to think that if you didn’t shoot any one you didn’t participate in the War.  They are very wrong,  Mr Brown kept our planes fuelled and maintained them from a quiet airstrip in Tadji.  Although Mr Brown saw no actual fighting he did lose a brother during the war.  His brother was a prisoner of war and he died under the harsh conditions.  This still causes Mr Brown a lot of pain.  Losing a brother is not easy at anytime.

The conditions in which Mr Brown and his fellow workers had to work in were hot and very humid.  They would slip and slide in mud up to their knees on occasions but no where near as much as many of our other troops had to.

To relieve their tension and stress many small harmless jokes were played.  Mr Brown claims one of the funniest to have been was this little shoe story.  One of the blokes used to place his shoes beside his bed and slip them on as he walked out of the room. One night someone decided that it would be very amusing to nail his shoes to the ground.  The next morning when he arose, he slipped on his shoes only to discover that he could not move his feet.  The whole group laughed as he freed his poor shoes.  In an effort to build mateship the group quite often went out to play cards and then when it got dark they would try to catch an open-air movie.  Of course occasionally they would see the same movie 5 or 6 times before a new film would start but they still enjoyed the relaxation time together.

In the beginning of June 1946, not long before his 21st birthday, James Brown was sent home.  The war was over and most of the clean up had been completed and it was time he began living the rest of his life.  When he arrived home he was lucky enough to be able to start right back where he had left off.  He continued on as a postman until 1986 when he retired.  He had 43 years of service both as a aircraftsman and a postman and he enjoyed it thoroughly.  Mr Brown has been happily married for 43 years.  They have two children and six grandchildren.

Mr James Brown was awarded a service medal and believes the more we explain the horrific experiences of war the less likely to engage in them the world will be.  He also believes that ANZAC Day is very important, as it is part of Australia’s history and culture.  ANZAC Day should continue to be commemorated long after all the Anzac’s have passed on.   It gives Mr Brown and the others like him a sense of achievement and good old Australian pride when they see old friends.  They also love to see young children marching on behalf of Granddads and Great Granddads.  Everyone must remember what hardships our troops faced and just how brave they all were.  Lest We Forget.

Part 2

This is a small amount of the history behind the Tadji Airstrip on which the Australian troops had a base during 1943 and 1946.  The strip was originally Japanese territory but on the 30th July in 1943, the Australian and American troops took the Airstrip for themselves.  It became a very important base for out troops as they could refuel and repair all damaged planes and fighters in an area where they had very little threat from any Japanese soldiers.

The 7th squadron and the 100th squadron both played important parts in World War II.  Mr Brown was part of several different squadrons all of which had important jobs.  The 7th squadron was where Mr Brown was for the majority of the time he was in new Guinea.  From 1943 onwards – 7th squadron was in Tadji.. Here they sent out planes on several bombing operations.  At the end of the war most members of the 7th squadron returned home.  Several of them though were placed into 100th squadron. They got the job of clean up and leaflet drops.  They also escorted single engine fighters back to Australia.  They disbanded on the 19th August, 1946.  

All in all War in any shape or form is a horrible waste of human lives and innocence.  Mr Brown and others like him risked their lives to protect their country.  All Australians owe our Anzac’s immensely for our free lives and our high standard of living.  War is not something to be glorified but more to the point it should be condemned.

Compiled by Samantha Carvolth 
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Norman Frank Wallace Banks

This is a story as told to me by Norman Frank Wallace Banks, of the 2/6 regiment.

Frank joined the army as it was something he wanted to do, something he, like many others did, to protect their country for their families and for future generations, including myself.  Fid they know what a legacy they would leave?

Frank was working on a cattle station in North Queensland when conscription was introduced but because of his occupation at the time, he was exempt from being called upon as his employer wrote a letter to excuse him.

Frank signed up to the army on November fifth, 1942 and was sent to a facility near Beaudesert for Anti-Aircraft training.  The training lasted for three months and was followed by Frank being stationed at Newstead Point on the Brisbane River.  Here Frank and his fellow members protected Brisbane with the skills they had acquired at their three month training course using the Anti-Aircraft guns.  As important as this job was, Frank, luckily never fired a shot.

When Frank turned twenty he was further trained, as at this age it was mandatory for him to be sent overseas.  He was at the training facilities at Canungra for three weeks, when volunteers for the Commandos were called.  Frank signed up and was sent to training for four weeks and from here he was sent to Ramu Valley in Papua New Guinea.  This roundabout trip took him to Townsville and as the wharf staff were on strike, Frank and his fellow members worked on the wharf during their stay, thus keeping  them there for Christmas.  For the next part of the journey, Frank boarded a cattle boat, directly after the cattle had just exited and the floorboards had been lined with lime!

Eventually, Frank and the team he was a part of, arrived in Ramu Valley.  Unfortunately Frank developed a terrible cold and because of this he would break into fits of coughing and this is certainly not a good think when he and a comrade were on watch.  An operation was necessary and as a result Frank spent four weeks in hospital. 

Frank later returned to Australia and was stationed, for approximately a year at Kairi which was very close to where his family lived in Mareeba.  While Frank was stationed there, he spent his twenty-first birthday in rocky creek hospital, on the Atherton Tablelands, with malaria which he, like many others, acquired in new Guinea.

After Frank had recovered, he was sent to Balik Papan.  He landed there on July first, 1945 with the Seventh Australian Division.  Fortunately for Frank, although he was shot at, he was never in a position to fire a shot.  The only time he ever discharged a rifle was through his training.

The war soon finished on August fifteenth and at last there was peace.  Frank though he was bound for home but instead he was sent to Celebes in Japan.  He was sent there with the Occupational forces to keep peace between japan and Indonesia and in Celebes was where he spent his Christmas of 1945.

During some of Frank’s time overseas, his training became crucial, not only for surviving but for using the limited resources he had to make himself accommodation as, under conditions, was extremely necessary.

When Frank returned to Australia, he went home on leave to visit his family and was then stationed at Brisbane.  Although some officers were discharged promptly, Frank was not eligible for this.  The more commitments you had, if you were married, had children and hand a job waiting for you, the more points you were allocated ant the people with the most points were discharged first.  Frank though, at this stage was not married or had any other such commitments, but he did have a job waiting for him.  This did not generate him sufficient points though and so he was sent to work in Brisbane, working the switchboards.

Frank was stationed here from February until September.  While working here Frank began to exchange with his future wife, who was working the switchboard at Victoria Barracks and after being invited to a dance in town he became more acquainted with her.  Eventually when Frank was discharged on September nineteen 1946, he had a job waiting for him on the Gilbert River in the Gulf, but he then became engaged to the woman he fell in love with in Brisbane and returned to marry her.

This year will see the continuation of the yearly reunion, which Frank and the members he served with will attend.  He will also proudly attend the ANZAC day ceremonies as will many other ex-service men and women.

The war affected many people in different ways and today Frank and many others can look back and be proud of their efforts and courage.  Frank went to war, full of anticipation, the years he served for though, he wouldn’t change for the world.  These years not only gave him many life experiences and wonderful memories, but they changed his life.  None of these things can be changed or replaced and Frank would not have it any other way.

 Compiled by Shannon Smith

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Ernest Farlow
This is the story as told to me by Ernest Percy Farlow who served in the 2/2 Australian Anti-tank Regiment during World War II.

It has been almost 60 years since Earnest Farlow joined the army.  Just after his 21st birthday Ernest and a few mates went and volunteered to be in the army at Cunnamulla, but joining would not be that easy.  They had to go through Toowoomba because there were too many people to handle.   It took 5 months before they were registered.  Now before all this Ernest was working on a sheep station run by his father 100 miles from Cunnamulla.

Adventuring, seeing the world that was the motivation for Ernest.  He thought he would get to France and England, along with the other 180 hopefuls that joined with him.  Travelling by train 600 miles away to Redbank they started training. It was a whole 5 months of gruelling sweat,  though coming back to a hut to sleep in was a little better.  Ernest was lucky because many only had the luxury of a tent.

Imagine having to leave everything behind that you owned, well that is what the soldiers had to do.  All they were given was what they called the giggles suit  which was their uniform,  shoes and socks, plate and a knife, fork and spoon.  All that you would really have to yours would be a watch.  After the war they were allowed to keep the uniform.

The food they ate was no five star meal, baked beans was the main meal and the only meal they really ever ate.  There was no fresh meat and for a snack all there would be was a lot of hard biscuits.

The relationship between the men was very good because when you get a volunteer group like that everyone is in the same boat, just all wanting to do their job.  Most of the men were country blokes who had been in the scrub all their lives.  In that first week Earnest made 3 friends that he is still in contact with today.  They all used to sit around and tell stories of what they did back home. Out of those 3 friends Ernest lost one mate to the war.

They were paid 5 shillings a day and most of them spent it on tobacco.  They never celebrated their birthdays.  It was just like another day to them.

Earnest was there to kill tanks.  He was in the front line but did not go in front of the infantry but had to be right up there with them in case a tank got through and they would have to be there to stop it.

Ernest had bombs landing around him, machine gun bullets flying over his head.  It was not something he would like to experience again.  He was a gun layer-firing guns, bullets could go through 4 inches of solid steel from 8 yards.

There was never the need to be holding a gun the whole time and also the fact that it was not allowed.  At night all the guns would be locked away with a guard securely guarding them all night.

Ernest has 2 scars on his leg, the only marks he brought back from the war.  You would never let your mates know that you were scared it was just something you would not let them see.  He never thought to himself that he might die in this was because once you think about, it was there the whole time and you will go crazy with just the thought of it.

During the war, Mr Farlow knew he would be in Wombi for a few weeks so he and his fiancee decided to get married.  The army usually allowed 1 week leave only, but he only got 2 days so they left Saturday and were married that night at St John’s Cathedral.  He took 5 days off and made it a weeks leave.  If you were half a day late you would get 14 days back drill; if you were one day late you would get 28 days in jail.  However he was a whole 5 days late and he thought he would be in there for 3 months.  His commanding officer, Officer McIver was standing outside while he was waiting to be tried.  He had known no one else so they told him to drive his officer around to all the units all day.  That night he stayed in one of the tents.  They did the same thing again, drove all over the place.  What he did not know was that you could not get in trouble after a certain period of time.  Anyway he thought that since he was helping out a lot that he might just get out of it.  McIver asked if he wanted to drive for him again and he said,  “Yes Sir!”

“You know you can’t do that!”

“I know!”

“Well you know I have to fine you, you will be without 7 days pay.”

So that is one on many stories of Ernest Farlow.

Ernest caught malaria while in Syria, and was extremely sick for 3 months.  His condition declined.  Later on the malaria returned twice as bad as it was the first time.

Everybody came back according to service.  They had points for being over a certain age, if you were married and for how long you had served.  Once you got enough points you could return home.

It was hard for Ernest to settle back down but eventually he went back to work for his father and he had plenty of work to keep him occupied.

He was happy to return home. 

He said that people of today could handle it if they had to.  Those of the men that did come from the city did find it that little bit harder than the country folk, since most people these days live in the city.

He has never returned to any of the places he fought in.

Ernest was in the war from the 23rd of May 1940 until the 16th of October 1945.  He had 1973 days of service overseas and 798 days of service in Australia.

Ernest was a Lance Bombardier & gunlayer.  His identification number was QX5595.

Compiled by Chloe Jackson 
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Audrey Gollagher
This is the story as told to me by Audrey Millicent Gollagher who served in the Australian Women’s Army Service, during the Second World War. She didn’t do anything particularly heroic, she didn’t win any medals, but she did, like many other men and women, do her bit for the war effort and for that she should be recognised.

Let’s start from the beginning. Mrs. Gollagher (though at the time she was known as Miss Galbraith) was the oldest in a family of four girls and one boy; the daughter of a service man in WWI and WWII and one very over-protective mother. When WWII broke out in September of 1939 she was working at a draper’s shop in the Valley called McWhirters, (which is still open today) and the way she got that job was a story in itself. 

Being the oldest, she was expected to set an example and get a good job. In those days jobs weren’t readily available so every day she worked hard scrubbing the floors of her elderly neighbours in order to get the train fare to the city, and from there she would walk all the way to the valley to ask for a job at McWhirters. She didn’t get a job the first time, you see or the second. In fact she made her trip into the Valley every Monday, Wednesday, and Friday for weeks on end. Sometimes she’d get lucky and they’d needed catalogues rolled or envelopes stuffed. The McWhirters catalogue was released every month but Audrey really didn’t want to do that for the rest of her days so she persevered and eventually did get a job as a McWhirters shop assistant in the stationery and book department. 

Then the war broke out and many, many people were enlisted and other people volunteered their services; Mrs. Gollagher was one of them. She had not been called up but decided to join before she was. However, her mother had other thoughts on the matter and wanted her to stay out of the whole thing! But when Audrey explained to her mother that if she joined then she might be able to get a nice safe job in Brisbane rather than be called up in the next lot of names and be sent off to goodness knows where, Mrs. Galbraith couldn’t help but yield

So Mrs. Gollagher joined the army on the 6th March, and her mother, still wanting to protect her daughter made her a pair of very long unbleached calico P.J.’s which saved her in many ways. Firstly, when she arrived in this highly uncivilized training camp at Yeronga (where she learnt to march, and salute, drill, and take cold showers) she was made to sleep in tents on long hessian bags full of straw with icky, gray, scratchy, army blankets (you know the ones) WITHOUT SHEETS. While the other girls she trained with were itching and scratching away in their little frilly numbers, Audrey tucked her feet into the end of her P.J.’S and was as comfy as can be.

When Mrs. Gollagher and the other girls were finished training they were posted. This involved being practically tossed into the back of an army truck with no seat belts (probably because there were no seats) and being driven off down a dirt track. Now this was all hush hush and not even the girls knew where they were headed. They travelled for hours would stop to drop some of the other girls off, and then kept moving. They had one other stop for lunch and then got back in the truck again. It was dusk when Audrey reached her destination. She and those who were still with her in the truck got out and looked around apprehensively, it was then that they realised they’d gone full circle and were right back at Yeronga. 

Their new quarters were situated in an old Salvation Army house, only ten feet away from the tents they were sleeping in before, but now they had luxury accommodation, real beds (mind you these still didn’t have sheets.) but it was still an improvement. With the new accommodation came new responsibilities and Audrey started working in Q.store (the place where they kept all the supplies). This involved taking inventory, handing out uniforms, palliasses (the long straw filled hessian bags) and army blankets and taking them to be fumigated (not that it made them any more comfortable). She also had to help out by waitressing in the mess hall on special occasions. For twelve months Audrey was kept busy at Yeronga until the day she was rushed to hospital to have her tonsils out (the day being the 10th of December 1943). Audrey was given 2 weeks recovery and then notice of transfer.

Audrey’s new home was a place called Frasers Paddock, an army camp from WWI situated in Ashgrove. (They were a little bit more civilised, there were actually sheets on the beds.) Her duties were much the same as that of Yeronga, however, there was one major difference, Frasers was a mixture of AWAS (the girls) and AMAS (the boys). And it was in Frasers that she was reunited with one particular boy by the name of Private Leslie Thomas Gollagher. Audrey was a Banyo girl, Leslie, was a Nundah boy. They’d met at the Smokes for Soldiers held at the Banyo Memorial Hall, (The Banyo Memorial Hall has recently been demolished to make room for the new war memorial.) they were held there because of the army camp on Earnshaw Rd, which at the time was full of American soldiers. This is why all our grandparents tell us how the Americans would give them strawberry jam in the old days during the war. Let me tell you this little story that Audrey related.

She used to go to the Smokes for Soldiers dances. She was 20 at the time and would dance with her friend who was two years younger and wanted to be her boyfriend. She told him he was much too young, to which he replied, “I’ve got an older brother, Leslie, I’ll bring him over here.”

Once reunited their romance began to blossom but at one stage the romance seemed like it was going to be cut short. The army decided it needed more typists and she was sent to do a typing course in Nudgee. The army however had messed up the accommodations and she and two other girls ended up staying at home with her mum, that wasn’t such a bad thing for Audrey but for her mother, Mrs Galbraith, it was a nightmare. She had to look after 6 girls. However, Audrey wasn’t the best typist and the number of girls her mother had to look after was reduced to 5; and Audrey was sent back to Frasers.

Audrey had her days off and on one of them she went home to see her Mum and at the end of the day she found herself running late to get into the main gate at Frasers before it was locked tight. By pure luck a Captain in an army duck (an amphibious vehicle) was tearing towards the gate and stopped when he spotted Audrey. The young man slowed to a halt and asked Audrey if she wanted a lift. Audrey gratefully accepted and hopped in. The young Captain immediately started showing off and went through every creek, ditch and pothole from there to the gate where he let a quite shaken Audrey off.

Sometimes Audrey’s days off coincided with Leslie’s. They’d catch the train to Nudgee and walk 4kms to Nudgee Beach where they would play on the swings or the seesaw and it wasn’t long before Les proposed they get married.

The wedding was on a Saturday, Saturday the 9th of June 1945. Les had arranged for ten days leave after the wedding and they booked a hotel in Coolangatta. However on Monday morning Audrey received a telegram to inform her that her husband was absent without leave and she was to return immediately to be paraded before the Colonel.

 Les and Audrey raced back to camp, and raced to get some uniforms, and raced to see the Colonel. They sat nervously in the waiting room for what felt like forever until they were actually allowed in. The Colonel asked when they entered “Mr. Gallagher, what have you got to say about your absence?”  Les replied “ Sir, my names Gollagher not Gallagher and I have a leave pass.” The colonel checked the papers, and apologised for the inconvenience. They didn’t dare go to either parents house not wanting to upset them about the army’s little mistake, so they ended up watching a film with a lot of Chopin music playing in the background. And to this day Mrs. Gollagher has never been rapt in Chopin.

Shortly before her wedding Audrey was transferred to the pay office on Anne St where she worked until her discharge on the 10th of December 1945. (Les was discharged seven days later on Audrey’s birthday.)

After the war Audrey and Les settled down in Banyo were Audrey grew up. They had three children, (two boys and a girl) who went to the local high school, Banyo, where Audrey was convenor of the canteen at one stage before entering the workforce again. 

She now has eight grandchildren and three great-grandchildren.

Unfortunately, Les passed away on the 14th March 1997.

Audrey is still a Banyo girl. 

Audrey, like I said in Part A was in the Australian Women’s Army Service or AWAS for short, and in her whole time in service she did not leave South East Queensland. She was trained in Yeronga and actively served for the first time there. She was sent to Frasers Paddock (Ashgrove) until she was moved from there back home for a very short time (or at least until the army decided she couldn’t type) and then returned to Frasers. Not long after that the whole camp was shifted to New South Wales, but Audrey stayed in Brisbane and ended up working in the pay office in Anne St. and somehow in the middle of all of this she found time to fall in love and get married.

She has lived most of her life in Banyo and has a wealth of local knowledge from WWII, to all the teachers who taught at the local schools I sincerely hope that I get to talk to Mrs Gollagher again and that she can tell me more about this place that I too have spent most of my life.

I would very much like to thank Mrs. Gollagher for her time and patience. 

Compiled by Penelope Deakin

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Robert Hadlow
Part One

This is the story as told to me by Mr Robert Hadlow, who served in 12 Platoon Delta Company, in Malaysia and Borneo.

Robert Henry Hadlow was born on August 1, 1940 in the Royal Women’s Hospital Brisbane. He led a normal child’s life, and at age 22 decided he wanted to do something different, so he joined the army.

Before joining the army Mr Hadlow was working around the city fixing telephone wires for the Queensland Railway Department. He spent all his time moving about the whole of Queensland fixing the wires. So he started thinking, instead of climbing up a ladder every five minutes to fix a telephone pole, maybe he should do something else with his life.

Mr Hadlow originally put his name down for the Australian Navy, but when the forms came in, it didn’t quite all work out. So a few years later he joined the army. This was in 1962.

For five months he did nothing but train. He got lots and lots of good jungle training. Training was extensive. He made three trips to Canungra, several trips to South Australia and also travelled to North Queensland for the jungle training. 

He was trained with a F60 machine gun, which was the main firepower for the section. The section consisted of a Corporal, the Corporal’s No.2, two scouts in front, himself and another man on the machine gun, while there were still rifleman in between. They always backed each other up. They were always looking out for each other. With that in mind and all of their training over, they were sent to Malaysia.

After World War 2 was over, there were still people that wanted to keep the war going. The Indonesians and Chinese formed an alliance and made guerilla warfare against Malaysia. The enemy wanted to take over the Indonesian Archipelago and the Borneo Islands.

The British Government was asked by the Malaysian Government to move in and stop the Indonesian Insurgency. The Australia Government joined forces with the British Government to send more soldiers to stop the Indonesians from going through the jungle and over the border into Malaysia. Mr Hadlow was transported along with everyone else by QANTAS Airlines from Adelaide to Malaysia. When they got there they needed to go to the base camp where all of the food, drink and ammunition etc, was stored.

They started with the patrols. On the patrols they would be out in the jungle for 7-14 days at any one time. They carried everything for themselves, rolled up in their backpack. For food they had Cerevite, a small bar of chocolate, and a little bit of marmalade jam and vegemite. To drink there was tea or coffee. You could have water, but with the water you drank, came two tablets, a white tablet and a blue tablet. You had to put the tablets into the water so the water would be safe to drink. But that’s not the tricky bit. You had to put the tablets into the water in an order, and if you put the tablets in the wrong way, you would get violently ill. So you had to learn quickly not to make that mistake. They had only two meals a day, because the rations they had were designed not to put on any weight. This was so they could stay in the best possible condition.

When on the patrols there were times when they could “relax” and sit quietly under a tree, but you had to be alert. Not from the Indonesian soldiers as such, but because of the fact there was always a lot of danger in the jungles. The conditions in the jungles were very, very wet. What do you get in a wet jungle? Leeches are what you would get. Lots of leeches. They were everywhere. They were in their boots, and in their socks, and in their pack, which was full of their clothes, food and other necessities. They would be walking along and all of a sudden they would fine a leech on their leg. All they could do was pick them off. There was also a small problem with scorpions. They could never take off their boots. Not just because of the leeches and scorpions, but there were diseases in the jungle that could make your toes fall off. In the jungle, they would only have to scratch and they could be infected with something. Everyone had to be very careful, with wounds as well. A wound or a scratch could become septic in an hour.  They could have red veins of blood running up their arm indicating an infection. Danger was everywhere on the patrols, they had to take a great deal of care.

Even with everything going on, you could still keep your sprits up. The only exception was the extreme wet. They were always wet! They were wet when you went to bed, although after they wrapped themselves up in a blanket they could soon dry off. But as soon as they got up, water from the trees would soak them through again. So they were forever wet, and they were living in the same set of clothes for up to 14 days at a time. They might have taken an extra pair of socks, but that was all.

Obviously they couldn’t take too much on the patrols because that was just more stuff to carry.

After the patrol was over they would go back to the base camp and rest for a few days. Then they got to do it all over again.

Mr Hadlow spent over a year in Malaysia and then his section was sent to Borneo. They travelled to Borneo aboard a large British Naval cargo ship, which took them across the South China Sea and up the Cuching River. Then his unit moved out into the jungle by foot and spent the next seven months doing the same thing all over again. Mr Hadlow was in the last unit to go there. After that, they were transported back to Malaysia for a short period of time. 

A plane then took him to Sydney, where they were given train tickets to Brisbane.  Finally they were sent to Enoggera, where they were given leave and were told to report back for further training.

Mr Hadlow walked down the street and found it unsettling, just like any normal person would after one day living like a dog, and the next just plainly walking down the street. Living in an urban neighbourhood and having to blend in as if nothing happened.

Mr Hadlow stayed in the army for a little while but didn’t end up sticking with it. Sometimes when he was sitting underneath a tree in the jungle, he started to think about what he could do when he got back to Australia. He thought that he could take two study courses. The first a photography course and the second, a horticultural course.  Combining the two he would write a book. He did the courses and received many certificates but didn’t get around to writing the book. He decided to join the fire brigade.

Since then he has gotten married, and has been happily married for many years. He now has two sons. One son has now joined the Australian Navy, and Mr Hadlow is fine about that. His wife is a nurse, and used to be a full time nurse, but now she has gone back to college.

Mr Hadlow is happy with his life. He still occasionally meets up with his old war friends for a barbecue and a chat. He attends Anzac Day ceremonies, and if he could do it all over again...he would.     

Part two

Robert Hadlow was in the army for the years 1962-1968. He served outside of Australia for 2 years and 49 days. He travelled to both Malaysia and Borneo. Both places were just huge masses of jungle. But if you did come out of the jungle into a clearing, you would find it could be almost peaceful. That is if you didn’t know there was fighting going on.

Mr Hadlow told me a story about an animal he came across unexpectedly in the jungle. 

Quite often, during a time where everything was quiet you could hear something that sounded like people walking in the jungle. So one day when he and a friend were walking through the jungle on a listening patrol, and had heard these footsteps, they investigated further. They didn’t find the Wild Man of Borneo, but a family of  Sunbears.

And that was one of the happier moments. 

Compiled by Amanda Dossetto, 

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE
Ron Fitzpatrick

This is the story, as told to me by Mr Ron Fitzpatrick, who served in the Second / Fourteenth Battalion during World War Two.

I started off in the Income Tax Department and it was a reserved occupation. However the Income Tax Department was quite happy to let me go if the situation arose. I tried to join the Armed Forces in 1940 and 1941, but the “Powers That Be” deemed that I had defective eyesight. I eventually was joined up in 1942 and they said that I was to be trained as an Artillery Specialist. So I was sent off to train at the Artillery Training Regiment down in Tenterfield. I spent the next year or two there before they decided they could not use us as Artillerymen. So they bundled us over to the Infantry. I joined the ranks of the Second / Fourteenth Battalion.

When I joined the Second / Fourteenth, they had just come back from New Guinea. I joined them in Brisbane. We had to go on a march through Brisbane. I was not really entitled to go on it because I was not a War Veteran at that particular point in time. I was very honoured to march in that parade. 

After this we were all sent up to the Atherton Tablelands for further training. We then went by Troop Ship and other means to Moratai, an Island near Western New Guinea. Then we went to Bali Papan in Borneo. That is where I commenced my active service duties. It took about Five Hundred Ships to land us at Bali Papan. We were with a United States Ship L.C.I. that is short for Landing Craft Infantry. They landed us safely which was a relief for us!

Our particular Battalion was to go up the coast to Mangar Airstrip and to take and secure that. It took about six days to get there. We were attacked at night some times and also during the day. I only lasted six days before I was wounded in the head. I was sent back to Moratai on a United States Hospital Ship. You can still see the scar in the middle of my forehead.

While I was in hospital the war was declared over and I was sent back to the Unit at Bali Papan. There we had to round up all the Japanese. We referred to them as Nips or Nipponese. There were about ninety thousand Japanese in the Celebes, which is now known as the Selawisi. We rounded them all up and spent quite a few months at Peri Peri, which is North of  Macaso.  This was near the Japanese Internment Area. The Indonesians and we were factions by then and there were a lot of Communists around. They were referred to by the locals as High Hoes. Among our journeys we had patrols out at roadblocks around Peri Peri. We had no trouble there.

A little incident that you might find amusing is when we used to have to perform the Changing Of The Guard. Scores of Indonesians used to come out from everywhere to watch us perform this ceremony. Now their countryside is very flat and they used to have to dig big, deep, cement waterways to help with irrigation. This one evening, at a particular crossroads, we were performing our usual Changing of the Guard, which becomes quite routine and boring to us, but never stopped amazing the Indonesians each time we did it. Unbeknown to me, they had added an extra fifteen trenches in that area, and so, to my horror as a new Corporal of the Guard, I right dressed the Changing of the Guard and some of the soldiers fell down into the new trenches!

Another of our duties was to protect the Indonesians from the High Hoes or Communists. In effect we had to protect them from each other. One night one of the High Hoes murdered a man. So a part of the guards job was to wait up all night protecting whole families from everyone. I used to sit all night with a Bren gun on my knees protecting these families.

Eventually we got the Japanese on their way home. After the War I was sent to Rabaul, which is in New Britain off Papua New Guinea. There were more Japanese to send home from here. One night I was alone on the Outpost. There was a great uproar from the Japanese. They were celebrating going home, only I did not know that! I thought it was going to be another break out like Cowra, New South Wales. I had five other people with me and all we had between us was a couple of rifles. Anyway it turns out all they were celebrating was going home and we sent them back on boats from there.

Eventually I was sent back home. One of the jobs I had was running a whole company of mixed Battalions, even though I was only a Corporal! This was my first practice of running a company, but I handled it and did it for a couple of weeks.

I was sent home in May 1946.

Compiled by Erika Beitzel

 RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Fredrick Slatter

Fred Slatter spent his childhood years in the Allora and Pittsworth districts of the Darling Downs in Queensland. After leaving school he began work in dairying manufacture. When World War II began and volunteers were called for, many family members and friends were only too willing to join up.

Fred’s brother and sister were already in the Army when Fred turned 18 and joined the Royal Australian Air Force on 23/3/1944. His service number was 151721.  It seemed “the right thing to do” as most people were eager to defend their country. As was the case in most families, his parents just accepted it.

Fred first did his three week rookie course at Sandgate followed by a three week bivouac at Redcliffe, near the water tower. He was then posted to Canberra to be trained in a technical  course. After 12 months, Fred graduated in radio signals and became a wireless mechanic. His 86th Squadron RAAF was stationed at Rockhampton, Bohle River near Townsville and Bowen the following  year. Fred was given notice that he was posted to MERAUKE in Dutch New Guinea when he was 20.

The Indonesians were rioting in this area and the 86th Squadron was there to show the strength and settle the uneasiness. Fred was able to work on both the Kitty Hawks and the Mustangs as they both had the same radio system. No face to face conflict occurred in the three weeks that Fred spent in the area. Fred then returned to Australia and was demobilised from Sandgate in March, 1946. 

Fred was awarded the 39-45 Service Medal and the Defense Medal and knows that his grandson places more emphasis on them than he ever did.

On his return to Australia, Fred volunteered to serve with the Occupation Forces in Japan but was not accepted. Instead he was retrained by the Federal Government in farming manufacturing at Gatton College, where he gained his Diploma. He then was employed with the Department of Primary Industries for the next 37 years. As well he was able to build a War Service Home with a loan at the very modest interest rate of 3.75%.

Fred shared his country way of life with his closest mate who was from Sydney. The “make-do” games of cricket and football and the close living in tents soon brought out the comradeship of the troops.

Fred reflects that his War Service gave him opportunities on his return that he otherwise would not have had. 

He has resided in the Banyo area since 1963.

                                                                   Compiled by Estelle Crabb

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Bill Barnett

Bill Barnett led a pretty easy sort of life. When he was about 14 and a half, he worked at a retail store called T.C.Beirnes. He played some cricket and football but mainly soccer and just did the usual things that a young bloke does.

His first experience of Army life was when he joined the CMF (Citizens Military Forces) in an artillery unit. He did his basic training and then the artillery unit went to Caloundra where they camped at Dicki’s Beach. They were the first unit to fire live rounds up in the Currumundi Lakes area.

When war broke out, the AMF (Australian Military Forces) were formed. Bill tried to enlist but was rejected because of his eyesight. He went into a regiment, training gunmen in basic skills for drill marching. He held the rank of a WO02 which is a warrant officer class 2.

He then went from artillery to an anti- tank regiment. He held the position of Sergeant Major with the battery. Some training was done at Grovely and Ferny Grove and then he moved to Townsville. While he was there bombing took place in Townsville.

After this Bill was promoted to a second lieutenant in an anti-tank regiment. At this time, the Japanese advances were being held and so the Federal Minister for Defence, Frank Ford, changed the name of the unit from anti-tank to tank attack. This name change was a fallacy as the unit was never used to attack tanks only to ambush them. Up in the islands of Burei, no tanks were used but there were a couple of tanks used at Milne Bay. 

After this the Japanese were without tanks and so they tried a variety of ways of defeating the Australian  forces. Bill recalls using many different types of artillery including a 75mm American gun which proved to be inefficient; a 4.2inch mortar which could fire a maximum distance of 4000yards; and anti-tank guns which changed from a 2 pound to a 6 pound armour piercing explosive. These anti-tank guns were also used against infantry.

Bill’s father served with the Royal Australian Air Force in the area between Brisbane and Maryborough. 

Bill returned to Australia  on  23rd December, 1945 and was discharged from the Army in early February, 1946. After the war when the CMF was reformed, Bill rejoined for about 18 months.

                                                                                Compiled by Leigh Anderson

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Ron Virgen 

Up to the age of 17, Ron had led a normal life in the Warwick district. His father had served in the Second World War and as a child he had watched the soldiers coming home from war. He attended many Anzac Day parades. He saw their pride and the respect the community showed to the returned soldiers and decided at a quite young age that he wanted to be a soldier. He left school at 12 years of age. Ron decided that most of the action was in the army as he saw the navy and airforce as playing support roles in keeping the coastline of Australia free from attack.

When Ron joined the Australian Army, his parents were worried and concerned that he was leaving home. In 1960, he was sent to Borneo to fight Indonesian troops who had invaded this country. The fighting was done in very rugged terrain with no support from tanks or other armed vehicles. Soldiers fought the enemy with the equipment they carried on their backs. Many Australian troops lost their lives in this Borneo conflict.

During this conflict, Indonesia experienced a drought. The Australian government of the day decided to send 1 million dollars to Indonesia to supply rice to the nation. However, the Indonesian government used these funds to support their troops in the conflict in Borneo. Ron and the other Australian troops were felt let down by the decision made by the Australian government. Ron holds no ill feelings against the Indonesian soldiers but believes that we right in supporting the East Timor cause.

Ron was a private when he arrived in Borneo and made the rank of corporal by the end of the action. He was awarded two medals from his Borneo involvement and received three other medals in the years that followed in his continued army service. All told, Ron had done 21 years in the army.

On leaving the army, Ron found it difficult to settle back into civilian life. He was employed at Crop Care at Strathpine. Ron worked here for 15 years in providing pesticides for use on farms.     

Ron has been an active member of the RSL and is currently Secretary of the Banyo Sub-Branch. 

He believes that returned personnel are supported well by the Australian government.

Compiled by Alex Bateman 


RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Frank Paterson

Frank Paterson was born on 1st  August, 1912 and is now eighty-seven.

Frank had a job in a reserve occupation and at first the Army didn’t want him. However he joined the Australian Army when he was twenty-seven years old and World War II was commencing. He enlisted at Ipswich and was moved around a lot. He was an only son and this made leaving his parents and his young wife a very hard thing to do, but duty called.

Training places in Australia included the Melbourne and Puckapunyal areas. Frank was first assigned to the Transport side of the Armed Division but after a while this unit was disbanded. He then joined the Advanced Headquarters of the Australian Army. This unit spent some time east of Geraldton in Western Australia. Frank recalls the daily hut inspections and the times when the group had to remake beds and tidy up again. He was sent by boat to Dutch New Guinea, now known as Irian Jaya.  Some bombing of the ships did take place, especially as he left Irian Jaya and travelled to Moratai.

All of Frank’s fighting was done on land. There were a great number of casualties and many lives were lost. Some of Frank’s unit were also captured but most of the P.O.W’s happened before Frank’s unit arrived.

He remembers living in tents and small wooden or clay structures, but fortunately he didn’t have to dig any trenches.

When working on the tanks, Frank would often give some of his rations pack to the drivers. Frank became sick with Malaria while overseas and had to take a green pill quinine to make them better. The side effects of the “runs” and he yellow colouring of the skin was not pleasant.

Mateship was a big part of Army life and Frank felt he was part of one big family. However he always looked forward to receiving letters, postcards, and parcels, from his loved ones at home. There were some females in the Armed Services but not in Frank’s unit. 

Frank was in Moratai and present at the signing of the surrender of the second Japanese Army. Frank returned home on the S.S. Murunda. Other troops were transported back on big passenger ships or aircraft carriers. Often there were about fifteen hundred people on board. Frank spent five years in the army and has several campaign medals.

Frank got a job in the building industry on his return. Jobs and materials were very scarce for a while because of the effects of the war but it soon got going again. 

Frank still attends Anzac Day services and enjoys meeting up with old friends.

Footnote: These words are Frank’s wishes.  Sergeant Frank wishes with all of his heart, that anyone who reads this story will never, ever have to go to another World War again.

                                                             Compiled by Jamie Penman    

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Kenneth Ferguson

Kenneth Ferguson was born in 1917 and is now 82 years old. He worked as a storeman at “Motor Supplies” before and after the war. His family didn’t know that he was gone because the army took him straight to a camp in Redbank. The reason Ken went to war was because he had joined the C.M.F (Citizen Military Force), now known as the A.M.F. (Australian Military Force) at the age of 22. They were put on a train and were out of Australia before any member of his family had the chance to lovingly say “Goodbye”, “Look after yourself”, or “I love you”.

Kenneth arrived in New Guinea in September, 1942. He left from Brisbane on a Dutch Trader called "The Trimer". They were then bunched on decks and were sprayed as they went through the islands and up towards Townsville. They crossed the Coral Sea into Port Moresby and were then loaded onto a Navy frigate “Parramatta”. He marched to war and was then taken to a camp at Donadabow. In New Guinea the battlefield was a big, thick jungle, which according to Ken, was scary when he was on his own.

During the night in New Guinea on the battlefield Ken would mostly use grenades and his rifle. The smoke from the grenades would create great camouflage. He said that his good experiences were the fun and great friendships of his mates in New Guinea. His worst experiences were when he was in the front line and when he lost his best mate and comrade. Most men died because they suffered from scrub ticks, malaria and injuries. Kenneth was an infantry man throughout the whole war. Horseman would only go out during the night in New Guinea.

The uniform was a khaki drill that was light and suited to the tropics or, in the winter, a “fur type” grey uniform. The Japanese uniform was nearly the same as the Australians, except ours had a flatter helmet. People were killed by accident by there own members. The backpack weighed about seventeen pounds, the rifle was nine and a half pounds, and the ammunition was five to seven pounds. The only food sources they had was one tin of Bully Beef and one packet of hard biscuits that were the same recipe as World War I Anzac Biscuits. Ken said he looked forward to getting home and finally having a home cooked meal. He was also very happy to go home and have a hot shower. Some days they would go for days without having even a cold shower.

There were 8 hospitals in Australia and they were always full. The wards could have as many as 32 men in each. Most attendants in the hospital were women dressed in a navy blue uniform with a veil or a khaki uniform. The hospital had to frequently send for supplies of medicine, bandages, and drugs. When the men who were badly injured were better, they would be sent back to Brisbane for further treatment. In the Australian hospitals they had beds and in New Guinea the soldiers slept on stretchers.

Ken can’t recall but he thinks about 50% of the soldiers returned home after the war. There were many men who were under the age of 17 when they joined up, looking for adventure and fun but soon found it to be quite the opposite of their dreams. The government discharged many of the men when their real age was found out. 25% of the men joined to be free from the commitment to their wives and so have the single feeling once again.

At the camp your bunk buddy was chosen for you. Some men got a change because their bunk buddy died in the battlefield. This only happened once to Ken in all his years of service. Ken was shot once in his left arm and was taken to hospital. Diaries were forbidden because they could contain information which, if lost in the battlefield, could be passed on to the enemy. Kenneth likes to participate every year in Anzac Day celebrations. He likes to march in parades and give speeches on his experiences. He received no financial help from the government for any of his service in Australia or New Guinea. He received a service medal that is in the shape of an Australian oak leaf and can be clipped on the collar of a shirt. Ken went into the war as a private and came out as a lieutenant.

He would write home frequently and there would be a checking point where they would read the letters to see if there was anything about the war in the letter. If there were such information, it would be cut out. This was called censoring. Ken and his wife went through the letters a few years ago and burnt them all after they brought back too many bad memories. He used to have bad memories about fighting in the front line, firing round after round of bullets from his rifle but they soon started to wear off very quickly.

Kenneth returned to New Guinea for the 50th anniversary of the “Kokoda track”. There are many stories as to what started the war but Ken thinks that politicians started it. He hopes that no more wars will occur in the near future. If there is, he knows it will be caused by politicians wanting to be more powerful than the other.

Ken said that lots of people lost loved ones and he saw lots of people crying back at the camp. Now he is losing many of his old service friends every month, because they are dying from old age. The 1939-1945 war lasted far too long.

Ken is happily married and living at Kedron.  He has two daughters and one lovely granddaughter. There are some things that Ken is now experiencing with old age; such as wearing glasses and using a hearing aid.

He really is a lovely man. I would like to sum up Ken’s memories of his war service by quoting something he told me –


“Always tell the truth. It is the best way to achieve

              whatever it is that you really want.”





      Compiled by Amy Richards

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Stanley Jackson
Stanley Jackson served in New Guinea and along Australian shores as Coastal Artillery in World War II

Jackson, as Coastal Artillery used many different weapons, the 40mm Beaufort that fires up to 5 shots in a row simultaneously before needing reloading. It had enough power to destroy a jet fighter in one direct hit. The nine inch cannon, one of the larger weapons, could shoot up to 22 miles away; the six inch cannon, also a large weapon, weighed about a hundred pounds and both the nine and six inch cannons had barrels which flung back so fast when they were fired that they could barely be seen. Then they moved forward slowly and were reloaded.

While in New Guinea, Gunner Jackson found the Australian soldiers to have more basic equipment and eating places. For example, he first saw jeeps in New Guinea because the Americans had them. Gunner Jackson said that the American eating places were like Cafes, while the Australians had normal mess areas , so he regularly went over to the American Camp for a good feed.

In New Guinea the worst thing, according to Stanley, was the food. The cook made fresh fish so greasy it was like pig lard (the cook was just one of the soldiers). Stanley caught some beautiful lobsters and wouldn’t let the cook go near them. He cooked them himself.

His position as Coastal Artillery was a very “sit and wait” job, until someone fired at him. He was never sure, in all the places he’d been, whether he had shot down a plane or not because of other artillery firing at the same time.

Stanley witnessed many things in Darwin in the form of Japanese raids and dogfights. Stanley told me during our interview that everyone in Darwin was saddened by the death of 18 ladies seeking cover in the post office that took a direct hit. While in a Sentry Box at the front of an Army Base, he got out to salute a General arriving in a vehicle. As he saluted, his rifle was stuck in the wood of the Sentry Box and he couldn’t get it out. The General half laughingly said, “Carry on”.

While in Darwin Stanley was on guard duty by himself as he watched in case the Japanese attempted to invade and was often startled by soldier crabs along the beaches. On one Saturday they were expecting a Japanese attack and at 8.00am Darwin was invaded by 300 planes. The Japanese sunk nine ships in the harbour including an American Destroyer and a ship called Zilandier which was carrying hundreds of mines all about as big as tables. This created the biggest explosion Stanley had ever seen.

As a happy young Australian I am very proud to hear of these brave young men who didn’t hesitate to stand up and fight for their country. When they were called to service, they just did it. Such bravery and selflessness is rarely replicated today.

Because of the bravery of World War II Veterans, I enjoy a happy, worry free country and for this I will always be grateful.

                                                                        Compiled  by Sam Corrie     

RECOLLECTIONS OF WAR SERVICE

Sapper Herbert Paul Bunning

Paul Earnest Friedrich Bunning was a farmer who married Ida Theresa Leschke. They had seven (7)

Children ,one of which was Herbert Paul Bunning. Their son was born on the 21st June 1919 at a private hospital in Townshend.

Herbert, his brothers (Frank, Edward and Mervy) and his sisters (Ellen and Thelma) all attended Marburg State Rural School. In the year 1934, he was granted a four year scholarship at the Queensland Agricultural High School and College by the Forestry Department. In 1938, at the end of the four years he graduated and received a diploma in Agriculture.

Herbert’s ambitions for life came after his four years at the Queensland Agricultural High School and College. He wanted to gain a cadetship (apprentice) as a surveyor or an Entomologist (study and control of insects and other pests on farms). He received a job as an apprentice surveyor with the Main Roads Department, near Gin Gin, in early 1939. There he learnt how to survey a road.

Herbert had only completed three years of his five (5) year apprenticeship when the war broke out. He could not continue his last two years of his apprenticeship until 1946. It was a hard haul full of study to complete his ambition, which he spent hours each night by his kerosene lamp, as there was no electricity.

Herbert and his two eldest brothers (Frank and Walter) joined the army and went to war, whilst his youngest sister joined the land army. He felt that his parents were saddened when they said their last good-byes and he and his brothers left the Australian shores and headed for the Middle East and New Guinea. The four children had left the rest of the family with the huge job of looking after the farm in Marburg.

The announcement of war didn’t affect Herbert much, as he was only young and the war was on the other side of the world. His own reaction to going to be a part of this war was strange in a way because he felt nervous and excited. He soon settled down though and made new army friends.

After the war was over it was not the same at home with his family as it had been three and a half years since they had last said their good-byes. It was easy for him to see that his parents were worried about his brother as was in a military hospital. The farm looked terrible as it had not rained for a long time and the strain from the war, which was now over, was still glaring out to him.

When he returned to Australia in 1943 he was transferred to the newly developed, first Australian Parachute battalion. He was demobilized in November 1945 as a fully qualified parachutist.

Herbert met his future wife Heather while staying down at Bondi Beach with friends. Heather was trying to convince Herbert into thinking that she was very rich but however Herbert discovered later that she was trying to pull the wool over his eyes.

During the war they were wed. This special day took place at the Methodist church, Glenbe Road, Merewether, New South Wales on the 23rd June 1945. The minister’s name was William Crossland Fullerton. At that stage in life Herbert was 26 years of age and still in the army. Heather Marie Sutherland was 19 years old and lived in Merewether, New South Wales, Having recently been discharged from the Australian Woman’s Army Service.

Three months after he had married Heather, (in the year 1945), he was discharged from the Redbank Army camp in Queensland. From the moment he walked out of the front gates, he was on his own. Heather was still living with her parents in Newcastle. He had no money or home but Heather joined him in Brisbane. Good cheap accommodation was hard to find. One thing in Herbert’s favour however was that he had received his old job back. Meanwhile Heather got a job working at the picture theatre.

One year later Herbert and Heather’s eldest of three boys was born. Wayne Rodney Paul was born on the 24th December 1946. Wayne later married Suzanne Margaret Budd and they had five children. On the 19th February 1948 their second son was born, Darryl John. On Christmas Eve 1948 a great change happened, Herbert and Heather bought a brand new house and their lives were very happy after that. Nine years later their third son Glenn Shayne was born on the 4th April 1957. Glen married Elizabeth Rogers and together they had three children.

Herbert returned to the Main Roads Department a married man in 1946 to finish his apprenticeship as a surveyor. As the Brisbane City Council offered him a job in 1948, he resigned from the Main Roads. In 1980, after 32 years service for the Brisbane City Council, Herbert retired.

In the year 1948 Herbert joined the Banyo Sub-Branch R.S.L. 9Returned Services League) and has remained a member ever since. He has also held the Secretary position in the R.S.L. from 1970 to 1999.

Due to his interest in the welfare of the widows and dependents of those who died on active service, or the widows of the members of the R.S.L. who have passed away over the years, Herbert was awarded a Gold Badge and Life Membership of the Returned Services League of Australia in 1987.

Herbert won many different awards including: 

· Diploma in Agriculture

· During the war he was awarded 4 medals 9including the African Star)

Every award he earnt he deserved by the amount of effort that he put in.

It was hard to go back to normal life again. After the war, it took Herbert a couple of years to return to normal life. During those years Herbert received medical attention as he could not sleep well.

Part Two
Once you turned 18 it was compulsory to do military training for 90 days. After the training it was optional to join the army or go back to work. Herbert Paul Bunning decided to join the army.

2/13 FD Coy Royal Australian Engineers 2nd AIF – OX21353

9th Australian Division (1940-1943)

1st Australian Parachute Troop RG Engin WW2 (1944-45)

1941-1943 Middle East – Palestine, Syria, Lebanon and North Africa (Battle of El Alamein).

He served in World War 2 in the Middle East for 611 days, in Australia for 980 days, making a total of 1649 days service.

The 6th and 7th divisions in the Middle East served in North Africa (Torbruk and El Alamein), Syria, Greece and Crete. The 8th Division went to Singapore and was captured by the Japanese in 1942.

Herbert was a Sapper and part of his job was blowing holes in the enemies barbed wire fences with explosives so that our tanks and Infantry could pass through. He had to then find the buried enemy mines, pick them up and put them to one side of the track. He also built things like dugouts where they slept.

He was involved in the 9th division and his other members lifting the mines were:

· Corporals Harold Bagallay M.M. and Max Jellie

· Sappers Jerry Farrell, Tick Bretherton and Tommy Green

His Sergeant was Bill Yarrow DCM and his officer was John Overall, MC and BAR.

Herbert was a lucky man, as he didn’t obtain many injuries. The only injuries he received were a cut, from the barbed wire, that got infected but was cut out and healed easily. The other injury was as a paratrooper. He landed on his back and received compensation for it. The injury does not affect him much now.

There were often raids, which were when one of the sides decided to test out the strength of the enemy. They also had to get in and kill as many enemy men as possible. A raid held a battalion of about 800 Infantrymen.

An experience Herbert had was on his way to the Middle East from Sydney, when he travelled on the luxurious Queen Elizabeth. He also travelled beck to Sydney, Australia, on another luxurious ship called the Queen Mary in 1943. Herbert saw the way the Arabs lived in the Middle East. On the weekends he lived in their houses which were made of stone and he saw the strength of the stone. When he was in the Middle East he saw a lot of cultures and places such as Palestine, Syria, Lebanon and Egypt. On Christmas Eve, 1942 he and a friend visited the Holy City of Jerusalem. People of all nations, colours and creeds attended the service at the Church of the Nativity. It was a beautiful old stone church in Bethlehem. After the service they attended the celebrations where there pilgrims from all nations. Everyone felt blessed and at peace.

Another experience he had while in the Middle East was in the mountains of Syria. He and his section were in a galvanized tin hut when the worst snowstorm for 20 years in the Middle East hit. They were snowbound for a week.

Herbert also experienced the battle of El Alamein from October 23rd 1942 to November 10th 1942 where the 9th Australian division lost 620 killed, 1944 men wounded and 130 men taken prisoner, a total of 2694. Lest We Forget.

In the Middle East the people were very kind but they also were very poor. As he often went to stay with them, he gave them some food in return. Herbert also felt that their culture was funny sometimes and although it was a good experience seeing their culture he could not survive on what they ate. 

When Herbert served in the Middle East, he, the Australians, New Zealand, British and Indian Troops fought against the Germans and the Italians. The Germans and the Italians wanted to take over the Suez Canal and oil fields. They had already invaded North Africa and had planned to go along the coast to take over the Suez Canal and the oil fields. Egypt’s desert border was where the war was. However Egypt had no part in the war and was neutral and Herbert’s side took no notice of them. The Egyptians had photos of the Queen Victoria and Hitler. When the British were winning they had the picture of the Queen showing and when the Germans were winning they turned the picture over so that Hitler’s picture could be seen.      

When the war got serious the Queen’s army had to stop the Germans and the Italians. They moved to Africa and stopped at El Alamein and stayed there in Palestine and Syria. The Germans and the Italians moved forward as well and so the British, Australians, South Africans, New Zealanders and Indian troops were moved to Cairo (the capital of Egypt) on the 6th June. Both sides built up their forces for the final battle on the 23rd October 1942.  If the Queen’s side won the German side would retreat backwards and board their boats and go back to their homeland.  If Hitler’s side won, the Queen’s side would be forced to retreat back to their boats or they would be taken prisoner. Hitler would also take the Suez Canal and the oil fields.

Between the 6th June and the 23rd October they had continual battles. Between the two days, both the two sides kept building up their forces and if the Germans kept building up their forces they would have come right up and taken the Queen’s members prisoner. So they had to go first and defeat them. This final battle was called the battle of El Alamein and took place on the 23rd October 1942. The allies went forward and defeated the Germans.

One thing that Herbert values from his childhood was that he accepted what his parents told him, which was to work hard and be satisfied with any rewards given to him, no matter how small. He enjoyed life a lot as a child because everyone was friendly and there was very little crime. In the country he had never heard of rich people, as everyone was working hard to earn a living, whereas today there is a large gap between the rich and the poor.

Today, Herbert values his home and family that includes children, grandchildren and great-grandchildren. Unlike his childhood, today he feels that the rich people become richer and don’t mix with the poor people who seem to be becoming poorer.

Looking back over his life, Herbert said that his life could not be changed for the better and his wife was a perfect companion. Herbert however, was not happy to be part of the war as it was sad to see so many young people dead or dying. It was a thing that he will never forget and he hopes that we all live long peaceful lives. Every year Herbert marches on Anzac Day with members of his init, the 9th Division. 

 Looking to the future, he has no plans and will be doing the same tomorrow as he has done today and yesterday and will be happy and hopes to remain healthy.

Compiled by Melissa Gray
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